S156555

SUPREME COURT **FILED** SUPREME COURT COPY

SEP 2 1 2007

In The Supreme Court of the State of California Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

FRANCES HARRIS et al.,

Petitioners,

ν.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY.

Respondent:

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al.,

Real Parties in Interest.

No. B195121 c/w No. B195370

(L.A.Super.Ct. Nos. BC 246139, BC 246140)

(JCCP No. 4234 -Liberty Mutual Overtime Cases)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is the "administrative exemption" defined by the Wage

Orders issued by California's Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) limited
to those few employees who perform work at the level of "policy or general
operations," or does it also include employees whose work affects policy or
whose responsibility it is to execute or carry it out – as has been the
established standard for more than 50 years?

II. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

The answer the Court of Appeal gave in this case was that only employees who perform work "at the level of *policy* or *general* operations" can qualify for the administrative exemption from overtime compensation. (*Harris v. Superior Court* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 164, 177, original italics (*Harris*).) This is a startling conclusion that contradicts the plain meaning of the applicable regulations, disregards 50 years of jurisprudence, and creates a maelstrom of confusion and practical problems. It also diverges sharply from established federal law construing the same exemption under parallel federal regulations — regulations the IWC expressly incorporated into California's Wage Orders to "promote uniformity of enforcement" under state and federal law. In effect, the

opinion abolishes the administrative exemption for all but a small number of high-level employees.

The centerpiece of the Court of Appeal's published opinion, which includes a strong dissent, is the remarkable conclusion that only employees who perform work at the level of their employer's policy or general operations are performing "administrative" work. According to the majority, employees who merely carry out the "day-to-day operations of the business" cannot, by definition, be performing administrative work.

Applying this novel and unsupported premise, the majority concluded the exemption does not include even one of petitioners' hundreds of claims adjusters working in a broad array of job categories.

The majority's conclusion contradicts the plain meaning of a federal regulation (29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c)) the IWC expressly made part of the California Wage Orders. This regulation makes clear the administrative exemption is, in fact, "not limited to persons who participate in the formulation of management policies or in the operation of the business as a whole." It also includes employees whose work "affects policy or whose responsibility it is to execute or carry it out."

As the dissenting justice notes (*Harris, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 196), the majority's conclusion also cannot be reconciled

with the provisions of two other federal regulations the IWC has incorporated into California law: (1) 29 C.F.R. § 542.205(c)(5), which states that "many persons" who work as claims adjusters *can* be exempt administrative employees; and (2) 29 C.F.R. § 541.205(b), which provides that administrative work involves such things as "advising the management, planning, [and] representing a company" – tasks claims adjusters perform every day.

The Court of Appeal's opinion is of dramatic and far-reaching importance. Unless this Court grants review, hundreds of thousands of employees in every sector of California's economy will have to be reclassified as non-exempt, significantly disadvantaging California businesses and employees and likely resulting in a flood of new litigation. Absent this Court's review, only the few employees who perform work at the level of "policy" or "general operations" will qualify for the administrative exemption. That has never been the law, in state or federal court.

This Court has not previously addressed California's administrative exemption or the interpretation of the federal regulations the

IWC has incorporated into California's Wage Orders. If, contrary to the IWC's stated intent to promote consistent enforcement practices, the administrative exemption is to have a different meaning in California than it does in the rest of the nation, employers across the country who do business in California should hear the final word from this Court. On the other hand, if the Court of Appeal erred in restricting the well established interpretation of the exemption and regulations, employers should not be forced to reconfigure their exemption structure to accommodate an erroneous opinion from an intermediate court.

The trial court recognized the importance of the legal issue this petition raises by certifying it for interlocutory review. So did the parties, because both the plaintiffs and defendants urged the Court of Appeal to grant writ review. So did the Second District, by granting review and publishing its opinion. The issue is now clearly presented for

Petitioners are aware the Court denied review in *Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exch.* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 805, and *Eicher v. Advanced Business* (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1363 (2007), both of which centered on the administrative exemption.

Bell did not involve the new Wage Order, however, and by its terms its holding was limited to the "restricted record" presented in that case. (Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exc. (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 715, 729.) And, the issues presented for review in Eicher were quite different and much narrower than on this petition.

resolution by this Court in a high-stakes case where both sides are ably asserting their positions. Businesses, employees, and commentators throughout California and the United States are paying close attention. For all these reasons, the Court should grant review.

III. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Frances Harris and other named plaintiffs and class members in a consolidated group of class action lawsuits are employed as claims adjusters, in numerous and widely-differing job categories, for petitioners Liberty Mutual Insurance Company and Golden Eagle Insurance Corporation. (Petitioners' Exhibits in Support of Petition for Writ of Mandate, Vol. 1, Tab 2, p. 23.)²

The great majority of the plaintiffs' time is spent representing their employers and advising management while engaged in such tasks as gathering evidence, determining whether coverage exists under the applicable insurance policies, evaluating liability, assessing damages, establishing reserves, negotiating with insureds and third parties, protecting against fraudulent claims, and collaborating with counsel if a claim results

In this petition, these Exhibits will be cited as "Vol. __, Tab __, p. __.")

in litigation. (Vol. 6, Tab 72, p, 1469.) Petitioners have for many decades classified plaintiffs as exempt administrative employees.³

Between March 2001 and August 2002, plaintiffs filed four class action lawsuits challenging their classification as exempt employees and seeking damages based on overtime work for which they claim they were not properly paid. The four actions were coordinated in one proceeding by the Judicial Council. (Vol. 1, Tab 4, p. 43.)

In May 2004, the trial court certified each as a class action, concluding that the so-called "administrative/production worker dichotomy" was a predominant issue and could be dispositive with regard to the administrative exemption. (Vol. 1, Tab 5, p. 64.) A year later, plaintiffs moved for summary adjudication on liability, arguing that each class member was non-exempt as a matter of law. (Vol. 1, Tabs 7-8, pp. 71-110.) Petitioners opposed the motion and moved to decertify the classes

Petitioners also employ other claims agents and adjusters who are not classified as exempt. Although these employees perform "administrative work," they are not exempt because they do not meet other parts of the test for exempt status, e.g., the requirement in section (1)(2)(e) of Wage Order 4-2001 that they regularly exercise "discretion and independent judgment."

The majority apparently confused doing "administrative work" with being an "exempt employee." These two things are not the same.

on the ground that common issues of fact and law did not predominate because of the many significant variations in the duties performed by class members. (Vol. 3, Tabs 17-18, pp. 434-457.)

In October 2006, the trial court issued its decision holding that class members were probably not exempt until October 1, 2000 under the terms of an earlier Wage Order, but could be exempt after that date under current Wage Order 4-2001. (Vol. 6, Tab 72, p. 1424.) Thus, it denied plaintiffs' motion for summary adjudication (which spanned both periods) and decertified the class for the period after October 1, 2000. Finding that the interplay between and interpretation of the old and new Wage Orders raised a controlling and unsettled question of law, the court recommended interlocutory review of its decision under Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1. (Vol. 6, Tab 72, pp. 1470-1471.)

Thereafter, both plaintiffs and petitioners filed writ petitions urging the Court of Appeal to grant review. The Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause. After extensive briefing and lengthy argument, the court issued a 2-1 published opinion that directed the trial court to enter a new order (1) granting plaintiffs' motion for summary adjudication of defendants' affirmative defense based on the administrative exemption and (2) denying in its entirety defendants' motion to decertify the class. (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 189-190.)

The majority centered its analysis on the portion of the new Wage Order that describes the type of work employees must do to qualify for the administrative exemption. Specifically, Wage Order 4-2001 provides that administrative work consists of office or non-manual work that is "directly related to management policies or general business operations." (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 176.) The majority concluded that for work to be "administrative" in nature, it must be performed "at the level of *policy* or *general* operations." (*Id.*, original italics.) According to the majority, "work that merely carries out the particular day-to-day operations of the business," is "production" work, not "administrative" work. (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 177.)

Although it acknowledged the plaintiff claims adjusters "investigate and estimate claims, make coverage determinations, set reserves, negotiate settlements, make settlement recommendations for claims beyond their settlement authority, [and] identify potential fraud," the majority concluded these employees could not be administratively exempt because they performed that work as part of the "particular, day-to-day operations of the business." According to the majority, this remains true regardless of the type of work such day-to-day activity entails. (*Harris, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 177, 179.)

In a crisp, two-page summary, dissenting Justice Vogel outlined the reasons why she reached the opposite conclusion, noting, "[t]he majority's analysis is complex. Mine is not." (*Harris, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 196.) She pointed out that one federal regulation, which the IWC expressly made part of the current Wage Order, provides that "many persons" employed as "claims agents and adjusters" do administrative work. (*Id.*) Likewise, Justice Vogel noted that another federal regulation, which the IWC also made part of Wage Order 4-2001, defines the "administrative operations of the business" to include just "what claims adjusters do – they negotiate settlements (and conclude some without seeking approval) advise management, and process claims." (*Id.*)

The dissent concluded by noting that "most of the federal courts that have construed the governing federal regulations have held that claims adjusters are exempt," and that any supposed inconsistency created by the federal regulation upon which the majority relied (29 C.F.R. § 778.405) was irrelevant because that regulation, unlike the others described above, "is not mentioned in Wage Order No. 4-2001." (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 196-197.)

This petition followed.

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

The linchpin of the Court of Appeal's opinion, as well as its principal flaw, is its unprecedented conclusion that administrative work consists exclusively of work performed "at the level of *policy* or *general* operations." (*Harris, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 177, original italics.) Applying this unreasonably narrow test, the majority reasoned that petitioners' claims adjusters could not be performing administrative work because instead of "giving advice about management policies or general operations," they instead analyzed, negotiated, and made recommendations about specific claims, which the majority characterized as merely carrying out the "particular, day-to-day operations of the business." (*Id.*)

Despite the novelty and impact of defining administrative work so narrowly, the majority opined it could not even imagine any other "plausible interpretation" of the distinction between administrative and production work. (*Id.*) In fact, the majority's restrictive interpretation is directly at odds with the plain meaning of the applicable regulations and well established authorities under state and federal law for more than 50 years. There are at least three fundamental and compelling problems with the majority's analysis.

First, it is born of whole cloth. In effect, the majority appeal created a new test that overrules the Wage Orders promulgated by the enacted by the IWC and enacted by the Legislature. Limiting the administrative exemption to employees who perform work at the "policy" or "general business" level is contrary to the plain meaning of the applicable regulations, established practice, generations of judicial decisions, and common sense. Most administrative employees perform work that contributes to the daily operations of the business but is still "directly related to management policies or general business operations." That the majority announced a contrary conclusion does not change this fact.⁴

One of the federal regulations the IWC incorporated into Wage Order 4-2001, 29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c), removes any doubt about this fundamental issue. This regulation states that administrative work is "not

Ultimately, the majority even reached the anomalous conclusion that "producing the employer's product is not a necessary condition for doing production, as opposed to administrative, work." (Harris, supra, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 181, original italics.)

In doing so, the majority apparently confused the concepts of doing "administrative work" with being an "exempt employee." Many employees, however, who are not exempt (because they do not meet *other* tests for exempt status) are nonetheless still performing "administrative" work.

limited to persons who participate in the formulation of management policies or in the operation of the business as a whole." It also includes employees whose work "affects policy or whose responsibility it is to execute or carry it out." (29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c), italics added.) This language cannot be reconciled with the majority's conclusion that "work that merely carries out the particular day-to-day operations of the business" cannot, by definition, be administrative work. ⁵

Second, as the dissenting justice also notes (*Harris, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 196), the majority's conclusion is directly at odds with two federal regulations the IWC expressly made part of the new Wage Order:

(1) 29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c)(5)

This regulation states that the "directly related to management policies or general business operations" requirement is also met by "many persons" employed as "claim agents and adjusters." By limiting "administrative work" to work performed at the "policy" or "general

Likewise, in section 1(2)(f), Wage Order 4-2001 states that administrative work includes all work that is "directly and closely related to exempt work," as well as "work which is properly viewed as a means for carrying out exempt functions."

operations" level, however, the majority effectively substituted "very few" for "many."

Rather than addressing the inconsistency between its restrictive interpretation and the "many persons" language in 29 C.F.R. § 541.205(c)(5), the majority interpreted another federal regulation (29 C.F.R. § 778.405) as suggesting claims adjusters are not exempt. (*Harris*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at pp. 175-175.) As the dissent notes, any apparent inconsistency created by this regulation is irrelevant because unlike the regulations upon which petitioners rely, § 778.405 is not mentioned in Wage Order 4-2001. (*Harris*, *supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 197.)

(2) 29 C.F.R. § 541.205(b)

This regulation, which the IWC also expressly made part of Wage Order 4-2001, defines the "administrative operations of the business" to include the "work performed by so-called white-collar employees engaged in servicing a business, as, for example, advising the management, planning, negotiating [and] representing the company." As the dissent notes, "that is what claims adjusters do – they negotiate settlements (and conclude some without seeking approval), advise management, and process claims." (*Harris, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 196.)

Contrary to the majority's interpretation, nothing in this regulation limits "administrative" work to formulating or overseeing the employer's general business policies. Nor is there any language suggesting that the job functions described in this regulation should not be regarded as administrative work just because they are performed on a day-to-day basis.

Third, the conclusion the court reaches departs sharply from the analysis used by every federal court that has construed the same or similar regulations. As the dissenting justice notes, "most of the federal courts construing the governing federal regulations have held that claims adjusters are exempt." (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 196.) Under the majority's analysis, by contrast, almost no claims adjustor would qualify for the exemption. This divergence is particularly troubling because in its "Statement of Basis," the IWC explained that one of its reasons for adopting the new Wage Order was "to promote uniformity of enforcement" under state and federal law. (Vol. 5, Tab 62, p. 1292.) The majority's conclusion points in the opposite direction.

Similarly, the majority brushed aside the numerous federal decisions holding that claims adjusters are exempt administrative employees by opining that, "none of the federal cases involving claims adjusters [is] persuasive." (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 186.) It also dismissed an opinion letter from the Department of Labor concluding

that claims adjusters *are* exempt administrative employees as not being "thorough, well-reasoned, or persuasive. . . . " (*Harris, supra,* 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 185.)

In the end, the majority used its unreasonably restrictive interpretation of "administrative" work to reach the sweeping conclusion that *not one* of petitioners' claims adjusters, who have widely differing duties and responsibilities, qualify for the administrative exemption. This conclusion, in itself, illustrates the fundamental and far-reaching problems with the Court of Appeal's unprecedented analysis.

V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners recognize the Court receives thousands of petitions for review each year and can grant only a few. This should be one of them. This petition presents a question of law, set forth in a published opinion, that departs from well established California law and dramatically restricts the number of employees in California who can qualify for the administrative exemption.

By limiting such status to employees who work at the level of "policy or general operations," the court of appeal reached a conclusion that disregards the plain meaning of the IWC Wage Orders and the applicable regulations, parts company with every federal court that has construed the

-15-

same regulations incorporated into the current Wage Order, and abandons what has been the established interpretation for generations. If the opinion is allowed to stand, it will significantly disrupt and disadvantage California businesses and employees, particularly in the insurance, financial services, accounting, retail, and brokerage sectors.

For all these reasons, petitioners respectfully urge the Court to grant review and decide the important question of law this petition presents.