Supreme Court Copy

No. S156555

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANCES HARRIS et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, Respondent;

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al., Real Parties in Interest.

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY et al., Petitioners. SUPREME COURT

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,

OCT 12 2007

Respondent;

Frederick K. Onlinch Clerk

FRANCES HARRIS et al., Real Parties in Interest.

Deputy

Second District Nos. B195121 and B195370 (Consolidated)
Los Angeles Superior Court Nos. BC 246139 and BC 246140
JCCP No. 4234 (*Liberty Mutual Overtime Cases*)
The Honorable Carolyn B. Kuhl

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. DISCUSSION

Although defendants attempt to manufacture one, there is no "important question of law" for this Court to "settle" in this case. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The questions raised in the consolidated writ proceeding

were thoroughly and capably settled by the Second District. Defendants rightly do not assert that review is necessary to "secure uniformity of decision." (*Ibid.*) This ground for review is not invoked because there is no split in California case law. In fact, every pertinent California decision supports the Opinion.

A. The Opinion's Application of California's Administrative Exemption Is Correct and Consistent with All Relevant California Authority

1. Case Law Applying Wage Orders 4 and 4-2001

To maintain consistency in common law precedent, appellate judges generally seek to reconcile their rulings with those of sister appellate courts. In its application of the administrative exemption in Wage Order 4 and its successor, Wage Order 4-2001, the Court of Appeal emphatically did so here.

The Second District followed the analysis of the administrative/production worker dichotomy the First District Court of Appeal enunciated in *Bell v. Farmers Insurance Exchange* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 805 (*Bell II*). The First District reaffirmed its analysis in *Bell v. Farmers Insurance Exchange* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 715 (*Bell III*), which further supports the Opinion. Far from "unprecedented" and "born of whole cloth" (Petn. 10, 11, 15), the Opinion merely builds on *Bell II* and *Bell III*. As the Court of Appeal recognized, the case here is not distinguishable from *Bell* in any material way. (Op. 14-15.)

In light of this context, the current petition for review borders on a renewed challenge to the *Bell* decisions. This Court denied review in both *Bell II* and *Bell III*, and also rejected depublication of *Bell II*. (See *Bell v. Farmers Insurance Exchange* (June 20, 2001, S096772) 2001 Cal. Lexis 4231; *Bell v. Farmers Insurance Exchange* (May 12, 2004, S123477) 2004 Cal. Lexis 4135.) Evidently seeing no conflict with federal law, the United States

Supreme Court declined certiorari in *Bell II*. (Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Bell (2001) 534 U.S. 1041 [122 S.Ct. 616, 151 L.Ed.2d 539].)

In addition to passing review by higher courts, the First District's analysis, on which the Second District relied, has animated California wage and hour law. Earlier this year, applying the administrative exemption under Wage Order 4-2001, the Third District Court of Appeal adopted *Bell II's* analytical approach. (See *Eicher v. Advanced Business Integrators, Inc.* (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 1363, 1372-1373 (*Eicher*).) Just a few weeks ago, this Court denied review in that case. (See *Eicher v. Advanced Business Integrators, Inc.* (Aug. 29, 2007, S154732) 2007 Cal. Lexis 9488.) To complete the recent landscape, this Court cited both *Bell III* and *Bell III* with approval in *Gentry v. Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 443, 455-464 (*Gentry*).

Here, the Second District followed not just *Bell II* and *Bell III*, but also *Eicher* on application of the administrative/production worker dichotomy under Wage Orders 4 and 4-2001. (Op. 12-13.) Accordingly, the First, Second and Third Districts have now issued decisions that are harmonious and all cut the same direction – just not the direction defendants prefer.

2. Administrative Interpretations of the Wage Orders

This Court's refusal to disturb *Bell III*, *Bell III* and *Eicher* should come as no surprise. The First, Second and Third District interpretations of Wage Orders 4 and 4-2001 all parallel the views of the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (DLSE). The DLSE is "the state agency empowered to enforce California's labor laws, including . . . wage orders'" issued by the Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC). (*Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575, 581 (*Morillion*).) "As interpretation necessarily precedes administration [citation], DLSE's primary responsibility is to interpret the

intent of the IWC." (Monzon v. Schaefer Ambulance Service, Inc. (1990) 224 Cal. App. 3d 16, 30.)

As the Opinion observes, the DLSE has concluded that California follows the dichotomy analysis under the two wage orders at issue in this case. (Op. 22, 24; see 4 Exs. 1037 [1998 DLSE letter addressing Wage Order 4]; 12 Exs. 3367, 3374-3380 [2003 DLSE letter addressing Wage Order 4-2001].) This Court underscored recently that although non-binding, the DLSE's interpretations are entitled to "consideration and respect." (*Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1105, fn. 7 (*Murphy*).) Or, as this Court stated in another leading case, an "administrative interpretation" embodied in a DLSE "opinion letter" is "persuasive." (*Morillion, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 590.)

Here, the Second District accorded the proper level of judicial respect to the DLSE, while reserving for itself the task of interpreting the complex maze of statutes and regulations. As the Opinion concisely stated, "we find the DLSE letters to be well reasoned and therefore persuasive." (Op. 22.)

In rejecting defendants' grudging reading of Wage Orders 4 and 4-2001, the Opinion is also faithful to "basic principles" guiding interpretation of the Labor Code and wage orders enacted under it. (Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 785, 794 (Ramirez).) Just six months ago, this Court reiterated that "statutes governing conditions of employment are to be construed broadly in favor of protecting employees." (Murphy, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1103.) As distilled in the Opinion: "California's wage and hour regulations . . . are liberally construed in furtherance of their remedial purpose, and exemptions to the regulations are therefore narrowly construed." (Op. 12, citing Ramirez, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 794.) Notably, "the employer bears the burden of proving the employee's exemption." (Ramirez, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 794-795.) On the specific record presented, defendants here failed to do so – an outcome, as in Bell, raising no issue of statewide import.

To overcome (or distract from) the overwhelming California authority adverse to their position, defendants rested heavily on federal law, especially new federal regulations and cases under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) (29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.). The Court of Appeal properly declined defendants' invitation to tie California's distinct administrative exemption, currently based on an IWC wage order adopted in 2001, to recent federal doctrine less protective of workers. (Op. 22-26.) To ensure that employees are fully and fairly compensated when they work overtime, "state law may provide employees greater protection than the FLSA." (*Morillion, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 592.) This is, in fact, unremarkable. (See *Ramirez, supra*, 20 Cal.4th at p. 795 [giving some examples].) "Indeed, 'federal law does not control unless it is more beneficial to employees than the state law." (*Morillion, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 594, citation omitted.) The Court of Appeal was right that the protections accorded California workers under California law do not hinge on the changing whims of federal jurisprudence.

B. Defendants' Policy-Based Assertions Are for the Legislature and the Relevant Agencies, Not the Judicial Branch

With California law firmly against them, defendants resort to sky-is-falling melodrama. "Unless this Court grants review," the petition insists, "hundreds of thousands of employees in every sector of California's economy will have to be reclassified as non-exempt, significantly disadvantaging California businesses and employees and likely resulting in a flood of new litigation." (Petn. 3.) These assertions have no foundation in the record or the Opinion actually issued by the Court of Appeal. Supreme Court advocacy often includes claims of "far reaching and devastating consequences," but such pronouncements are unavailing when there is "no support for such broad predictions." (City of Santa Barbara v. Superior Court (2007) 41 Cal.4th 747, 769.)

The Opinion simply does not paint with the broad brush portrayed by defendants. To the contrary, the Second District cautioned: "Application of the administrative exemption thus requires case-specific factual analysis of the work actually performed by the particular employees involved." (Op. 27.) "We recognize that the administrative/production worker dichotomy is a somewhat rough distinction that may be difficult to apply in certain cases," but not in this one involving claims handlers, as in *Bell*. (Op. 13.) The Second District's measured approach echoes the First District's admonition that the "dichotomy is a somewhat gross distinction that may not be dispositive in many cases" and will "demand[] further refinement in some cases." (*Bell III, supra*, 87 Cal.App.4th at pp. 820, 826; see also *Bell III, supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 730-731 [similar caveats].)

Accordingly, doomsday will not befall the insurance industry, or other employers, if the Opinion – like *Bell III*, *Bell III* and *Eicher* – remains on the books. These decisions recognize that meaningful overtime laws foster stability, and avoid unfair windfalls for employers, by leveling the playing field in the workplace. As this Court stressed recently, California's overtime laws "serve the important public policy goal of protecting employees in a relatively weak bargaining position against the evil of overwork." (*Gentry, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 456, internal quotation marks omitted.) Supreme Court review in this six-year-old overtime dispute would not generate a different result, and would only further undermine "[t]he public policy in favor of full and prompt payment of an employee's earned wages." (*Smith v. Superior Court* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 82.) Having sought judicial relief in 2001, the class of claims handlers here – surely on "the lower end of the pay scale" – has waited long enough to be paid their overtime. (*Gentry, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 458.)

In the end, defendants' preference for a fundamentally different administrative exemption presents "policy-based arguments" that "must be addressed to . . . the Legislature." (Diamond Multimedia Systems, Inc. v. Superior Court (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1036, 1046.) As the Second District observed: "It is the function of the Legislature and the relevant agencies, not of the courts, to determine whether the 'directly related' requirement or any of its components have become obsolete, and to modify them as necessary." (Op. 26, fn. 12.) Of course, "the judicial role in a democratic society is fundamentally to interpret laws, not to write them. The latter power belongs primarily to the people and the political branches of government." (Cal. Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified School Dist. (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 633, citation omitted.)

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons given, the petition for review should be denied.